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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS—DATE OF 
ACQUISITION

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

1. Understand the concept of control as used in reference to consolidations.

2. Explain the role of a noncontrolling interest in business combinations.

3. Describe the reasons why a company acquires a subsidiary rather than its net
assets.

4. Describe the valuation and classification of accounts in consolidated financial
statements.

5. List the requirements for inclusion of a subsidiary in consolidated financial
statements.

6. Discuss the limitations of consolidated financial statements.

7. Record the investment in the subsidiary on the parent’s books at the date of
acquisition.

8. Prepare the consolidated workpapers and eliminating entries at the date of
acquisition.

9. Compute and allocate the difference between cost (purchase price) and book
value of the acquired firm’s equity.

Corporate Family Solutions, co-founded by Captain Kangaroo, is merging with a
Boston business in a $200 million-plus stock swap to create the nation’s largest
employer-sponsored child care company. Bright Horizons Inc. of Boston will own
57% of the stock in the new company, to be called Bright Horizons Family
Solutions, which will manage 255 centers in 40 states and Washington, D.C.1

The decade of the 1990s and start of the next century saw merger activity sweeping
the service industries with unparalleled enthusiasm, if not always with equal success.
A move to merge health-maintenance organizations, for example, was followed by
the consolidation of group physicians’ practices. Small companies were often
targeted, where the big investors were less interested, helping to keep the acquisi-
tion price more affordable (e.g., five times cash flows, rather than six times cash
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1 Associated Press, “Merger Would Create the Largest Employer-Sponsored Child Care Firm,” by Karin
Miller, 4/29/98.
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flows). A technique called “platform investing” enables a buyer to start with one
acquisition and to follow it with others until the company is large enough to take
public. Examples of service-sector industries where this technique has proven some-
times successful include funeral homes, golf resorts, landfill sites, and antenna
towers. Among the less-successful efforts to date are restaurants, service stations,
and dry cleaners.2 From the mom-and-pop stores to the largest service organiza-
tions in the country, business combinations appeared to be a way of life for
American business.

AOL Time Warner Inc. said it planned to rapidly expand a new subscription-based
video-on-demand service the company had been testing with customers since
the previous July. AOL chief executive Gerald Levin said, “This is not some dreamy
test or experiment. This is a rollout.” Before the merger with AOL, Time Warner
spent millions on interactive TV experiments, but Levin said the time for interactive
services was ripe.3

By 2002, however, AOL Time Warner Inc. was among those industries cringing over
former acquisitions, and the merger mania appeared to be over.

Recall that business combinations may be negotiated either as asset acquisitions
or as stock acquisitions. In Chapter 2 the procedural focus was on business combina-
tions arising from asset acquisitions. In those situations the acquiring company
survived, and the acquired company or companies ceased to exist as separate legal
entities. The focus in this chapter is on accounting practices followed in stock acqui-
sitions, that is, when one company controls the activities of another company
through the direct or indirect ownership of some or all of its voting stock.

When this occurs, the acquiring company is generally referred to as the parent
and the acquired company as a subsidiary. Those holding any remaining stock in
a subsidiary are referred to as the noncontrolling (minority) interest. Any joint
relationship is termed an affiliation, and the related companies are called affiliated
companies. Each of the affiliated companies continues its separate legal existence,
and the investing company carries its interest as an investment. The affiliated
companies continue to account individually for their own assets and liabilities, with
the parent company reflecting the investment on its books in a single account,
Investment in Subsidiary. This account will ultimately be eliminated in the consoli-
dating process to produce a set of consolidated financial statements. However, the
investment account will be maintained in the “parent” records. Thus, an important
distinction is noted between the consolidated statements and the parent only records
or statements in the case of stock acquisitions.

A corporate affiliation may, of course, consist of more than two companies.
A parent may obtain a controlling interest in the voting stock of several subsidiaries.
If one or more of the subsidiaries owns a controlling interest in one or more other
companies, a chain of ownership is forged by which the parent company controls,
either directly or indirectly, the activities of the other companies. Many large
American conglomerates have been formed by a variety of indirect ownerships.
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2 Business Week, “Buy ’Em Out, Then Build ’Em Up,” by Eric Schine, 5/8/95, p. 85.
3 WSJ, “AOL to Expand Video-on-Demand Service,” by Sally Beatty, 8/17/01, p. B3.

072-115.Jeter03.QXD  7/14/03  7:17 PM  Page 73



Enron wasn’t the only company to make debt disappear altogether from its books.
Global Crossing and Elan weren’t the only companies to give money to someone
else, take some of it back and count the inflow as revenue without counting the
outflow as expense. Amazon wasn’t the only company to resort to “pro forma”
accounting it was unhappy with generally accepted accounting principles. Shrewd
lawyers, CFOs, investment bankers, and accountants exploit the gaps in GAAP.
Treasury Undersecretary Peter Fisher said in a speech in 2002: “While
developments in our capital markets, corporate finance and risk management are
racing along at 100 rpm, the evolution of our accounting and disclosure regime
crawls along at 10 rpm—and the gap is forever widening.”4

DEFINITIONS OF SUBSIDIARY AND CONTROL

Although the term subsidiary takes on varied meanings in practice, in this text it
refers to the situation wherein a parent company (and/or the parent’s other sub-
sidiaries) owns a controlling interest in the voting shares of another company, often
more than 50% of the voting shares.5 In October 1995, the FASB issued an
Exposure Draft broadening the definition of control to include an indirect ability to
control another entity’s assets. In February 1999, the FASB issued a revised
Exposure Draft, focusing on another entity’s policies and management rather than its
assets.

The Board planned to issue a final statement in the second quarter of 2001 but
determined that there was insufficient Board member support to do so. Although
the Board has indicated that the issues will continue to be pursued, it is unclear
whether the conclusions will ultimately be similar or dissimilar to the revised
Exposure Draft.

Ironically, one of the sources of contention or uncertainty involved the special
rules that allow special purpose entities (SPEs) to remain unconsolidated when
certain criteria are met. The accounting for these types of entities came under fire
in the last quarter of 2001 when the Enron debacle became everyday news.

The FASB recently [July 2002] released an Exposure Draft of a Proposed
Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial
Statements and expects to issue a final Interpretation in the fourth quarter of this
year. The new rules are intended to provide guidance for determining when a
Special Purpose Entity (SPE) or other nonsubstantive entity should be included in
another entity’s consolidated financial statements. These proposed new rules will
most likely change the way that companies currently account for transactions
involving SPEs, including leasing, securitization, and a variety of other transactions.
Expected to be effective for periods beginning after March 15, 2003, companies are
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4 “Capital: When Standards are Unacceptable,” by David Wessel, WSJ, New York, 2/7/02, p. A1.
5 The SEC distinguishes majority-owned, totally held, and wholly owned subsidiaries. The term majority-
owned means a subsidiary more than 50% of whose outstanding voting shares are owned by its parent
and/or the parent’s other majority-owned subsidiaries. The term totally held means a subsidiary (1)
substantially all of whose outstanding equity securities are owned by its parent and/or the parent’s other
totally held subsidiaries, and (2) which is not indebted to any person other than its parent and/or the
parent’s other totally held subsidiaries, in an amount that is material in relation to the particular
subsidiary. The term wholly owned means a subsidiary all of whose outstanding voting shares are owned
by its parent and/or the parent’s other wholly owned subsidiaries.
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left with little time to assess the implications and to implement the proposed new
rules.6

By March of 2002, the Enron controversy had threatened to inflict political
damage on the White House, and President Bush proposed an SEC plan to tighten
oversight of the accounting profession. Critics were quick to dismiss his proposal
as too light or “toothless,” and by July 2002 a number of other accounting scandals
had followed on the heels of Enron. The outcome is uncertain at the time of this
writing, but tighter oversight is clearly on the horizon of the accounting standard-
setting process.

“The reality is that regulators can only do so much—unlimited wants are tempered
by limited means. Since the SEC lacks omniscience, the onus of returning public trust
to corporate financial reporting rests, ironically, with the people who prepare and use
financial statements—namely, the accountants, analysts, and executives. As stated by
Howard Schilit, director of the Maryland-based Center for Financial Research and
Analysis, there needs to be a stronger correlation between misdeeds and punish-
ment. ‘It has to be in the CEO’s best interest to report honestly,’ he says. Prevention is
more efficient than punishment, and that’s where ethics come into play.”7

The FASB abandoned its original exposure draft on the accounting for special-
purpose entities in favor of a new Interpretation on the accounting for variable
interest entities, or VIEs. Like the exposure draft, this Interpretation assumes that
companies that control another entity through interests other than voting interests
should consolidate the controlled entity. The new requirements under this
Interpretation are effective as early as December 31, 2002, but the question of how
to handle qualifying special purpose entities (QSPEs) remains unanswered. These
QSPEs, which have been exempt from consolidation by the entity that transfers
financial assets to them, are expected to continue to receive the kind of off-balance-
sheet treatment that got Enron into so much debt and ultimately so much trouble.8

More details on the new Interpretation are presented in Appendix C of this chapter.
On July 30, 2002, President Bush signed into law an Accounting Industry

Reform Act, requiring chief executive officers to certify the validity of their firms’
financial statements beginning August 14, 2002. Other aspects of the new act
include the following: the establishment of a five-member oversight board for the
accounting industry and the auditing sector in particular; restrictions on the types
of consulting services allowed to be performed by auditors, such as bookkeeping,
financial systems design, and personnel and legal services; bans on personal
loans from companies to their top officials and directors; and the creation of new
penalties for corporate fraud.

Specifically, the revised Exposure Draft defines control as the “ability of an
entity to direct the policies and management that guide the ongoing activities of
another entity so as to increase its benefits and limit its losses from that other
entity’s activities. For purposes of consolidated financial statements, control
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6 Today’s Webcast from Ernst & Young LLP, “Finding a Home for Special-Purpose Entities: Understanding
the FASB’s Proposed New Consolidation Rules,” July 29, 2002.
7 “Financial Alchemy Under GAAP,” by Stephen Brown, CFA Magazine, Jan–Feb 2003, p. 44.
8 “Defining Issues,” No. 03-3, KPMG, January 2003, p. 6.
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involves decision-making ability that is not shared with others.” It stresses the need
to prepare consolidated financial statements whenever control exists, even in the
absence of a majority ownership. The Draft also provides a list of indicators of
presumed control, and it notes that the proposed definition is similar to the explicit
definitions adopted by the International Accounting Standards Committee.

The proposal by the FASB is expected to be opposed by some companies,
particularly biotechnology and pharmaceutical conerns, whose financial strength
could be hurt by the change. Accounting professionals have argued that some firms
deliberately avoid consolidating results by owning less than 50% of the voting
stock in an entity, even though they effectively control it by hiring and firing
management.9

In this chapter we focus on situations where the control is evidenced by
a majority ownership. The same procedures would apply, however, in the case
where a smaller percentage ownership exists concurrently with evidence of effective
control (for example, the parent owns 40% of the voting stock, and no other party
has a significant interest). The Exposure Draft defines a subsidiary as an entity that
is controlled by another entity. Other definitions and additional details from the
Exposure Draft are summarized in Appendix A (later in this chapter), along with
some of the Board members’ concern regarding the Exposure Draft.

Similarly, the Securities and Exchange Commission defines a subsidiary as an
affiliate controlled by another entity, directly or indirectly, through one or more
intermediaries. Control means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of another entity,
whether through the ownership of voting shares, by contract, or otherwise.

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE INCLUSION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The purpose of consolidated statements is to present for a single accounting entity
the net resources and operating results of a group of companies under common
control. Given this purpose and problems related to off-balance-sheet financing,
the FASB has taken the position that essentially all controlled corporations should
be consolidated. In addition, the FASB has reemphasized the basic position that
parent-company-only financial statements are unacceptable for general purpose
distribution; that is, the consolidated financial statements are the primary
statements of the economic entity.

Under some circumstances, majority-owned subsidiaries should be excluded
from the consolidated statements. Those circumstances include:

1. Ownership is temporary. Management of the parent company should intend
a long-term relationship. A parent company should not consolidate a subsidiary
it expects to dispose of.

2. Control does not rest with the majority owner. For example, a subsidiary in legal
reorganization or bankruptcy should not be consolidated.
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9 WSJ, “FASB Seeks More Disclosure in Minor Stakes,” by Elizabeth MacDonald, 3/3/99, p. C12.
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3. A foreign subsidiary is domiciled in a country with foreign exchange restrictions,
controls, or other governmentally imposed uncertainties so severe that they cast
significant doubt on the parent’s ability to control the subsidiary.

Investments in majority-owned subsidiaries (greater than 50% ownership) that are
not consolidated for one or more of the foregoing reasons are normally reported
as investments using the cost method (with fair value adjustments, if needed)
because the subsidiaries are neither controlled nor significantly influenced by the
parent company.10

In general, the object of consolidation is to provide the most meaningful
financial presentation possible in the circumstances. Considerable judgment must
be exercised in accomplishing this objective. Typically the first note to the financial
statements of any company is the statement of significant accounting policies
required by APB Opinion No. 22. The consolidation policy followed should be
disclosed as part of this note.

The FASB has an ongoing project on consolidations and related matters. Issues
still being considered by the Board are summarized in Appendix A to this chapter.
Chapter 2 discusses other changes that were finalized in 2001.

REASONS FOR SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

There are several advantages to acquiring a controlling interest in the voting stock
of another company rather than its assets or all its voting stock. For example:

1. Stock acquisition is relatively simple. Stock can be acquired by open market
purchases or by cash tender offers to the subsidiary’s stockholders. Such acqui-
sitions avoid the often lengthy and difficult negotiations that are required in an
exchange of stock for stock in a complete takeover.

2. Control of the subsidiary’s operations can be accomplished with a much smaller
investment, since not all of the stock need be acquired.

3. The separate legal existence of the individual affiliates provides an element of
protection of the parent’s assets from attachment by creditors of the subsidiary.
A parent may sometimes establish a subsidiary by forming a new corporation
rather than simply adding a division to the existing company. The limited liabil-
ity characteristic of the corporate form of business organization is often the
primary reason for doing so.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statements prepared for a parent company and its subsidiaries are called
consolidated financial statements. They include the full complement of statements
normally prepared for a separate entity and represent essentially the sum of the
assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses of the affiliates after eliminating the effect
of any transactions among the affiliated companies. Accountants recognize that the
unconsolidated financial statements of the parent company, the legal entity, are
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10 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 94, “Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries”
(Norwalk, CT: FASB, 1987).
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insufficient to present the financial position and results of operations of the
economic unit controlled by the parent company.

Consider for a moment the unconsolidated financial statements of the parent
company. When the parent acquires a controlling interest in the subsidiary, the par-
ent makes an entry debiting Investment in Subsidiary and crediting either cash, debt,
or stock (or some combination), depending upon the medium of exchange.
Assume the acquisition relies on a cash purchase price of $5 million. The entry on
the parent’s books would be:

The parent’s investment account represents the parent’s investment in the
different asset and liability accounts of the subsidiary and often includes a signifi-
cant amount of goodwill. However, it is recorded in a single account entitled
Investment. The subsidiary, in contrast, continues to keep its detailed books based
on historical book values. These values are not as current as the market values
assessed by the parent at the date of acquisition, but they are detailed as to classifi-
cation. One way of looking at the process of consolidating is to consider the fol-
lowing table.

From the table above, we see that neither the parent’s Investment account
nor the subsidiary’s detailed asset and liability accounts serves to provide both
the valuation and classification desired in the consolidated financial statements.
The process of preparing consolidated financial statements aims to achieve the
desirable characteristics in the diagonal by showing the detailed asset and liability
accounts on the consolidated balance sheet, but using the valuation established by
the acquisition price (assuming purchase accounting applies). Further, this valua-
tion provides the basis needed to measure earnings, reflecting all necessary charges.

The purpose of consolidated statements is to present, primarily for the benefit of the
stockholders and creditors of the parent company, the results of operations and the finan-
cial position of a parent company and its subsidiaries essentially as if the group were a sin-
gle company with one or more branches or divisions.11 Consolidated statements ignore
the legal aspects of the separate entities but focus instead on the economic entity
under the “control” of management. The presumption is that most users of finan-
cial statements prefer to evaluate the economic entity rather than the legal entity.
Thus, the preparation of consolidated statements is an example of focusing on sub-
stance rather than form.

Although consolidated statements for the economic entity are considered to be
more appropriate for use by the stockholders and creditors of the parent company,
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Investment in Subsidiary $5,000,000
Cash $5,000,000

Investment Account on the Asset and Liability Accounts
Parent’s Books on the Subsidiary’s Books

Valuation Market Value Historical Value

Classification One Account Multiple Accounts

11 This position was expressed by the AICPA in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 (and reconfirmed by
the FASB in its Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 94).
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they are not substitutes for the statements prepared by the separate subsidiaries.
Creditors of the subsidiaries must look to the statements of the individual legal
entities in assessing the degree of protection related to their claims. Likewise,
noncontrolling stockholders need the statements of the individual companies to
determine the degree of investment risk involved and the amounts available for
dividends. Also, regulatory agencies are often concerned with the net resources and
results of operations of the individual subsidiaries.

INVESTMENTS AT THE DATE OF ACQUISITION

The general principles used to record business combinations effected as asset
acquisitions were discussed in Chapter 2. In this chapter and throughout Chapters 4
through 9, we will concentrate on accounting for the acquisition of another company’s vot-
ing stock. Appendix B to this chapter presents issues related to deferred taxes at the
date of acquisition.

Recording Investments at Cost (Parent’s Books)

The basic guidelines for valuation discussed in Chapter 2 pertaining to business
combinations apply equally to the acquisition of voting stock in another company.
Under the purchase method, the stock investment is recorded at its cost as meas-
ured by the fair value of the consideration given or the consideration received,
whichever is more clearly evident. Recall that the consideration given may consist
of cash, other assets, debt securities, stock of the acquiring company, or a combi-
nation of these items. Only the direct costs of acquiring the stock should
be included in the investment cost. Indirect costs relating to acquisitions (such
as the costs of maintaining an acquisitions department) should be expensed as
incurred.

If cash is used for the acquisition, the investment is recorded at its cash cost,
including broker’s fees and other direct costs of the investment. For example,
assume that P Company acquires all 10,000 shares of the common stock of S
Company for $25 per share and pays acquisition fees of $10,000. The entry to
record the investment on P Company’s books is:

If P Company acquired only 50% of the 10,000 shares at $25 per share and paid
an acquisition fee of $8,000, the entry would be:

If P Company issues stock in the acquisition, the investment is recorded at the
fair value of the stock issued, giving effect to any costs of registering the stock issue.
Assume, for example, that P Company issues 20,000 of its $10 par value common
shares with a fair value of $13 per share for the 10,000 shares of S Company, and
that registration costs amount to $5,000, paid in cash. The entries to record the
investment on P Company’s books are:

Investments at the Date of Acquisition 79

Investment in S Company 260,000
Cash (10,000) ($25) � $10,000 260,000

Investment in S Company 133,000
Cash (5,000)($25) � $8,000 133,000
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If P Company paid an additional $10,000 as a finder’s fee, the entry would be:

Note the difference in the effect of the finder’s fee or other direct costs, and the
registration costs related to the stock issue. The direct costs are considered part of
the purchase price and increase the amount of the investment. In contrast, the
registration costs serve to reduce the other contributed capital recorded in the
transaction, which is consistent with the recording of stock issuances at an amount
equal to the net proceeds received.

TEST
YOUR KNOWLEDGE 

NOTE: Solutions to Test Your Knowledge questions are found at the end of each
chapter before the end-of-chapter questions.

Multiple Choice

1. Stock given as consideration is valued at:

a. Fair market value
b. Par value
c. Historical cost
d. None of the above

2. Which of the following advantages and/or disadvantages of stock acquisitions
relative to asset acquisitions (and subsequent consolidated financial statements)
is misstated ?

a. The recent FASB Exposure Draft indicates that consolidated statements need
not be produced as long as a parent company owns less than 50% of the vot-
ing shares of the subsidiary.

b. Stock can be acquired by open-market purchases or by cash tender offers to
the subsidiary’s stockholders.

c. Control of the subsidiary’s operation can be accomplished with a much
smaller investment, since not all of the stock need be acquired.

d. The separate legal existence of the individual affiliates provides an element of
protection of the parent’s assets from attachment by creditors of the subsidiary.

3. Which of the following is not (generally) an advantage of stock acquisitions over
asset acquisitions?

a. Speed
b. Majority of ownership not required
c. Liability protection
d. Anonymity
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Investment in S Company (20,000) ($13) 260,000
Common Stock (20,000) ($10) 200,000
Other Contributed Capital (20,000) ($3) 60,000

Other Contributed Capital 5,000
Cash (registration costs) 5,000

Investment in S Company (finder’s fee) 10,000
Cash 10,000

3.13.1
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4. In its conceptual framework, the FASB set out a number of principles to be
adhered to in standard setting and in interpreting financial statements. The deci-
sion to require a consolidated statement, rather than separate financial state-
ments, for a parent firm and its subsidiary best illustrates which of the
following principles or concepts?

a. Periodicity
b. Going concern
c. Materiality
d. Economic entity

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS: THE USE OF WORKPAPERS

Affiliated companies should prepare a full set of financial statements (balance
sheet, or statement of position; income statement; statement of cash flows; and
notes to the financial statements). As of the date of acquisition of one company by
another, however, the most relevant statement is the consolidated balance sheet.
Preparation of the other consolidated financial statements becomes important with
the passage of time and is discussed in later chapters.

The consolidated balance sheet reports the sum of the assets and liabilities of
a parent and its subsidiaries as if they constituted a single company. Assets and
liabilities are summed in their entirety, regardless of whether the parent owns 100%
or a smaller controlling interest. In the latter case, the noncontrolling interests are
reflected as a component of owners’ equity.

Since the parent and its subsidiaries are being treated as a single entity,
eliminations must be made to cancel the effects of transactions among them.
Intercompany receivables and payables, for example, must be eliminated to avoid
double counting and to avoid giving the impression that the consolidated entity
owes money to itself. Likewise, any intercompany profits in assets arising from
subsequent transactions must be eliminated, since an entity cannot profit on trans-
actions with itself. A workpaper is frequently used to summarize the effects of the
various additions, eliminations, and so forth. Among the types of transactions that
necessitate eliminating entries are the following:

Consolidated Balance Sheets: The Use of  Workpapers 81

Intercompany Accounts to Be Eliminated

Parent’s Accounts Subsidiary’s Accounts

Investment in subsidiary Against Equity accounts

Intercompany receivable (payable) Against Intercompany payable (receivable)

Advances to subsidiary (from subsidiary) Against Advances from parent (to parent)

Interest revenue (interest expense) Against Interest expense (interest revenue)

Dividend revenue12 (dividends declared) Against Dividends declared (dividend revenue)

Management fee received from subsidiary Against Management fee paid to parent

Sales to subsidiary (purchases of Against Purchases of inventory from
inventory from subsidiary) parent (sales to parent)

12 The account used by the parent to record dividends received from the subsidiary will differ if the
parent uses the equity method, described in Chapter 4, to account for its investment.
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The process of eliminating these and other types of items (such as the profit or
loss on intercompany sales of assets not realized in transactions with outsiders) will
be discussed in detail in this and later chapters. This chapter will focus on balance
sheet accounts, while later chapters will focus on both balance sheet and income
statement accounts.

Investment Elimination

An important basic elimination in the preparation of consolidated statements is the
elimination of the investment account and the related subsidiary’s stockholders’
equity. The investment account represents the investment by the parent company
in the net assets of the subsidiary and is, therefore, reciprocal to the subsidiary com-
pany’s stockholders’ equity. Since the subsidiary company’s assets and liabilities are
combined with those of the parent company in the consolidated balance sheet, it is
necessary to eliminate the investment account of the parent company against the
related stockholders’ equity of the subsidiary to avoid double counting of these net
assets. In effect, when the parent company’s share of the subsidiary company’s
equity is eliminated against the investment account, the subsidiary company’s net
assets are substituted for the investment account in the consolidated balance sheet.

The process of combining the individual assets and liabilities of a parent com-
pany and its subsidiary at the date of acquisition is discussed next. To start the con-
solidating process, a useful first step is to prepare a “Computation and Allocation
of Difference Between Cost and Book Value” schedule (CAD). Preparation of this
schedule requires us to address two basic issues.

1. Determine the percentage of stock acquired in the subsidiary. (Is it a 100%
acquisition, or a smaller percentage?)

2. Compare the purchase price (cost) to the book value of the equity acquired. If
a difference between cost and book value exists (sometimes referred to as the
purchase differential), we must then allocate that difference to adjust the under-
lying assets and/or liabilities of the acquired company.

The book value of the equity is the sum of all equity accounts (common stock,
additional contributed capital, retained earnings, etc.), which equals the book
value of the acquired firm’s assets minus liabilities at the date of acquisition. If the
acquisition is not a 100% acquisition, then the book value of the equity acquired is
the total equity of the acquired company times the percentage acquired.

Book value (BV) (Percentage acquired) (net assets of S Company),  or
of acquired equity  (Percentage acquired) (equity of S Company)

Note that the comparison is purchase price (cost) to book value, rather than
market value of the acquired entity. This comparison is appropriate because the
subsidiary company’s accounts are recorded at book value amounts, and the trial
balance of the subsidiary company (along with the trial balance of the parent com-
pany) provides the starting point for the consolidation process. Thus, although
market values are crucial in determining the numbers that are eventually reported
in the consolidated financial statements, we use book values to establish a starting
point. When the cost exceeds the book value, the difference will be distributed to
adjust net assets upward. When the cost is less than the book value, the difference
will be distributed to adjust net assets downward.

82 Chapter 3 Consolidated Financial Statements—Date of Acquisition
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We next illustrate the alternatives above in the order listed, with the exception
that we omit illustrations of Cases 2(a) and 3(a), which should be readily apparent
after reading the others. Examples are based on the balance sheets as of January 1,
2003, for P Company and S Company as shown in Illustration 3-1.

It is important to distinguish between actual entries that are recorded in the
books of one of the two companies and workpaper-only entries. The entries presented
in the preceding section to record the Investment in S Company were actual
entries, which would be recorded in the accounts of P Company. These types of
entries would already be reflected in the trial balance, which constitutes the first
column of the workpapers presented throughout this chapter (see, for example,
Illustration 3-2 or 3-3).

The entries that we develop next, and which appear in the middle “elimina-
tion” columns of the workpapers, are workpaper-only entries. As such, they are never
posted to the books or accounts of either company’s general ledger. Consequently,
the entries will need to be repeated each year in the consolidating process. In some
cases a number of entries from prior years may be combined to simplify the process;
but, in essence, the entries are being repeated each year. Throughout this book,
workpaper-only entries will be presented shaded in blue. Parent company entries are
shaded in gray, and subsidiary entries are presented in white.
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The two steps above lead to the following possible cases:

Case 1. The parent company’s cost of its investment is equal to the book value of the
subsidiary company’s equity acquired, and
(a) The parent company acquires 100% of the subsidiary company’s stock; or
(b) The parent company acquires less than 100% of the subsidiary company’s stock.

Case 2. The parent company’s cost of its investment exceeds the book value of the subsidiary
company’s equity acquired, and
(a) The parent company acquires 100% of the subsidiary company’s stock; or
(b) The parent company acquires less than 100% of the subsidiary company’s stock.

Case 3. The parent company’s cost of its investment is less than the book value of the 
subsidiary company’s equity acquired, and
(a) The parent company acquires 100% of the subsidiary company’s stock; or
(b) The parent company acquires less than 100% of the subsidiary company’s stock.

ILLUSTRATION 3-1

Balance Sheets for P Company and S Company

January 1, 2003

P Company S Company

Cash $100,000 $ 20,000
Other Current Assets 140,000 50,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 120,000 40,000
Land 40,000 20,000

Total Assets $400,000 $130,000

Liabilities $ 60,000 $ 50,000
Common Stock, $10 par value 200,000 50,000
Other Contributed Capital 40,000 10,000
Retained Earnings 100,000 20,000

Total Liabilities and Equity $400,000 $130,000
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Case 1(a): Parent Company’s Cost of Investment Is Equal to Book Value
of Subsidiary Company’s Stock Acquired—Total Ownership (100% of
Subsidiary Stock Acquired)

If the purchase price happens to be exactly equal to the book value of the equity
acquired, the investment account (from the parent’s trial balance) will eliminate
cleanly against the equity accounts of the subsidiary. If we assume further that the
market values of the assets acquired approximate their book values, then there is
no need to adjust assets or liabilities from their recorded values, even under pur-
chase accounting. The end result of the eliminating process is that the investment
account is completely eliminated, as are the equity accounts of the subsidiary (since
it is a 100% acquisition). In essence the investment account is replaced with the
underlying assets and liabilities of the subsidiary.

To illustrate, assume that on January 1, 2003, P Company acquired all the out-
standing stock (5,000 shares) of S Company for a cash payment of $80,000.
P Company would record an actual journal entry as follows:

Immediately after the acquisition, P Company has $20,000 in cash ($100,000
shown in Illustration 3-1, immediately prior to acquisition, minus $80,000 spent to
acquire Company S) and $80,000 in an Investment in S Company account. These
amounts appear in the first column of the workpaper presented in Illustration 3-2.
The Computation and Allocation of Difference Between Cost and Book Value
Schedule reveals no difference, as shown below.

Computation and Allocation of Difference Between Cost and
Book Value
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $80,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired

($80,000 � 100%) 80,000
Difference Between Cost and Book Value 0

Note that the $80,000 equals the recorded value of S Company’s stockholders’
equity. Data for the preparation of formal consolidated statements are normally
accumulated on a workpaper, on which any required adjusting and eliminating
entries are made prior to combining remaining balances. Adjusting entries are those
needed to correct any accounts of the affiliates that may be incorrect or to recog-
nize the unrecorded effect of transactions that have been recorded by one party,
but not by the other. Adjusting entries must be made ultimately on the books of one
or more of the affiliates. Eliminating entries are made to cancel the effects of inter-
company transactions and are made on the workpaper only. In all illustrations
throughout this book, letter notation is used to identify related parts of adjusting
entries, and number notation to identify related parts of eliminating entries. Note,
however, that some of the eliminating entries will involve “adjustments” to accounts,
particularly when there is a difference between cost and book values. Thus, it is
technically more accurate to think of eliminating entries as eliminating/adjusting
entries or as workpaper entries. These entries will be our focus throughout the next
several chapters, and adjusting entries are used only rarely.

Investment in S Company $80,000
Cash $80,000
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The workpaper entry to eliminate S Company’s stockholders’ equity against the
investment account, in general journal form, is:

Remember, although it is expressed in general journal form, this is a workpaper-only
entry. No entry is made on the books of either company. As mentioned previously,
all workpaper entries are shaded in blue to distinguish them clearly from book entries.

A workpaper for the preparation of a consolidated balance sheet for P and S
Companies on January 1, 2003, the date of acquisition, is presented in Illustration 3-2.

Note the following on the workpaper:

1. The investment account and related subsidiary’s stockholders’ equity have been
eliminated and the subsidiary company’s net assets substituted for the invest-
ment account.

2. Consolidated assets and liabilities consist of the sum of the parent and subsidiary
assets and liabilities in each classification.

3. Consolidated stockholders’ equity is the same as the parent company’s equity.
This is as it should be, since the subsidiary company’s stockholders’ equity has
been eliminated against the parent company’s investment account. The consol-
idated balance sheet is that of the economic entity, and the only ownership inter-

Purchase Accounting ILLUSTRATION 3-2

Cost Equals Book Value Consolidated Balance Sheet Workpaper

Wholly Owned Subsidiary P Company and Subsidiary

Date of Acquisition January 1, 2003

Eliminations
Consolidated

P Company S Company Dr. Cr. Balances
Cash 20,000 20,000 40,000
Other Current Assets 140,000 50,000 190,000
Plant and Equipment 120,000 40,000 160,000
Land 40,000 20,000 60,000
Investment in S Company 80,000 (1) 80,000

Total Assets $400,000 $130,000 $450,000

Liabilities 60,000 50,000 110,000
Common Stock

P Company 200,000 200,000
S Company 50,000 (1) 50,000

Other Contributed Capital
P Company 40,000 40,000
S Company 10,000 (1) 10,000

Retained Earnings
P Company 100,000 100,000
S Company 20,000 (1) 20,000
Total Liabilities and Equity $400,000 $130,000 $80,000 $80,000 $450,000

(1) To eliminate investment in S Company.

(1) Common Stock—S Company 50,000
Other Contributed Capital—S Company 10,000
Retained Earnings—S Company 20,000

Investment is S Company 80,000
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est is that represented by P Company’s stockholders; that is, P Company owns all
of S Company’s stock.

Case 1(b): Parent Company’s Cost of Investment Is Equal to Book Value
of Subsidiary Company’s Stock Acquired—Partial Ownership (Less Than
100% of Subsidiary Stock Acquired)

Next we introduce a noncontrolling interest. In this situation, the consolidated
balance sheet will nonetheless reflect the combined assets and liabilities of parent
and subsidiary in their entirety. To balance, the equity interests will then be separated
into the noncontrolling interest’s equity in net assets and the usual controlling
interest equity accounts.

Assume that on January 1, 2003, P Company acquired 90% (4,500 shares) of
the stock of S Company for $72,000. Since P Company owns less than 100% of
S Company’s stock, consideration must be given to the existence of a noncontrol-
ling interest (minority interest) in the net assets of S Company. A Computation and
Allocation Schedule would appear as follows:

Computation and Allocation of Difference between Cost and
Book Value
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $72,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired

($80,000 � 90%) 72,000
Difference Between Cost and Book Value —0—

The workpaper investment elimination entry is:

Only that percentage of S Company’s equity acquired by P Company is elimi-
nated against the investment account; the remainder of S Company’s equity
constitutes the noncontrolling interest. The purpose of the consolidated balance
sheet is to report the net resources under the control of a single management, and
the management of P Company effectively controls all S Company’s resources.
Thus, all S Company’s assets and liabilities are combined with those of P Company
on the consolidated balance sheet, and the noncontrolling interest representing
the noncontrolling shareholders’ interest in the net assets is a separate component
of stockholders’ equity.

A workpaper for the preparation of a consolidated balance sheet at the date of
acquisition in this situation is presented in Illustration 3-3. A separate column is
added to the workpaper in this illustration between the eliminations columns and
the consolidated balances to compute the noncontrolling interest in equity. The
numbers in this column represent the percentage of each equity account of
S Company not acquired by P Company, and the total noncontrolling interest is
transferred to the consolidated balance sheet column.
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(1) Common Stock—S Company 45,000
(.9 � $50,000)

Other Contributed Capital—S Company 9,000
(.9 � $10,000)

Retained Earnings—S Company 18,000
(.9 � $20,000)
Investment in S Company 72,000
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In comparing Illustrations 3-2 and 3-3, it should be noted that: (1) consolidated
assets are $8,000 greater in Illustration 3-3 since it took $8,000 less cash to acquire
the investment, and (2) an $8,000 noncontrolling interest exists. Noncontrolling
interest is accumulated on the consolidated workpaper in a separate column.

The proper classification of the noncontrolling interest has been a subject
of debate. From the perspective of the controlling interest, it is similar to a liability.
It is not, however, a liability because it does not require a future payment by the
parent company or the consolidated entity. The shareholders who represent
the noncontrolling interest are indeed stockholders, but only of the subsidiary
company and not the parent. Some companies, in the past, presented this interest
after liabilities and before stockholders’ equity on the balance sheet to convey the
“hybrid” nature of the noncontrolling interest. We believe that the noncontrolling
interest is best presented as a part of stockholders’ equity of the consolidated entity,
but clearly labeled to distinguish it from the other equity accounts.13

Case 2(b): Parent Company’s Cost of Investment Exceeds Book Value of
Subsidiary Company’s Stock Acquired—Partial Ownership (Less Than
100% of Subsidiary Stock Acquired)

Next, we continue to allow for a noncontrolling interest, and we introduce a dif-
ference between the cost and the book value acquired. In Case 2, we illustrate the
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13 The term “minority interest” may not reflect clearly the actual nature of some items. For example,
a parent company may own 25% of its subsidiary’s outstanding preferred stock. In this case, the use of
the term “minority interest” to represent the 75% interest held by noncontrolling shareholders is not
representative of the circumstances. Also, a parent may have control of a subsidiary with less than 50%
of its common stock. We have elected to use the term “noncontrolling interest” throughout this text.

Purchase Accounting ILLUSTRATION 3-3

Cost Equals Book Value Consolidated Balance Sheet Workpaper

90% Owned Subsidiary P Company and Subsidiary

Date of Acquisition January 1, 2003

Eliminations
Noncontrolling Consolidated

P Company S Company Dr. Cr. Interest Balances
Cash $  28,000 $  20,000 $  48,000
Other Current Assets 140,000 50,000 190,000
Plant and Equipment 120,000 40,000 160,000
Land 40,000 20,000 60,000
Investment in S Company 72,000 (1) 72,000

Total Assets $400,000 $130,000 $458,000

Liabilities 60,000 50,000 110,000
Common Stock

P Company 200,000 200,000
S Company 50,000 (1) 45,000 5,000

Other Contributed Capital
P Company 40,000 40,000
S Company 10,000 (1) 9,000 1,000

Retained Earnings
P Company 100,000 100,000
S Company 20,000 (1) 18,000 2,000

Noncontrolling Interest 8,000 8,000
Total Liabilities and Equity $400,000 $130,000 $72,000 $72,000 $458,000

(1) To eliminate investment in S Company.
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common situation where the purchase price is higher than the book value of equity
acquired.

Assume that on January 1, 2003, P Company acquired 4,000 shares (80%)
of the outstanding common stock of S Company for $74,000 cash, after which
P Company has $26,000 in cash and $74,000 in an Investment in S Company. Since
the book value of the equity interest acquired by P Company is only $64,000 (80%
� $80,000), cost exceeds the book value of equity acquired by $10,000.
A Computation and Allocation Schedule for this situation begins as follows:

Computation and Allocation of Difference between Cost and
Book Value
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $74,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired

($80,000 � 80%) 64,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 10,000

In this case, because there is a difference between cost and book value, we must
not only compute the difference but also allocate that difference to the appropriate
accounts. If we assume that the entire difference is attributable to land with a cur-
rent market value higher than its historical recorded cost, we would complete the
schedule as follows:

Computation and Allocation of Difference between Cost and
Book Value
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $74,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired

($80,000 � 80%) 64,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 10,000
Adjust land upward (mark toward market) (10,000)
Balance —0—

The adjustment to land is a debit, and is shown in parentheses. The popular
phrase “mark to market” may be used here, with the qualification that the purchase
price may not always be great enough to mark the asset entirely to market. In no
case would the asset be marked higher than its market value. The adjustment(s) are
then added to the difference (treating debit adjustments as negative amounts) to
yield a balance. The correct distribution of the difference between cost and book
values depends upon the market values of the underlying assets and liabilities. If the
difference is more than needed to adjust all net assets, then the excess is goodwill.

Many firms are concerned about the recording of large amounts of goodwill,
because of the future charges to income that result as the goodwill is amortized.
Firms looking for creative ways to avoid recording goodwill sometimes write off a
portion of the purchase price as an immediate expense under the guise of in-process
R&D. This issue is a controversial one, and is addressed in more detail in Chapter 5.

Writing off “purchased R&D” works to reduce rather than inflate profits. It does this
by allowing firms to expense in one swoop the value of any R&D that is under way
in an acquired firm at the date of acquisition. Many suspect that this accounting
maneuver has become a “dustbin for anything that firms want to charge off.”14
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14 The Economist, “Think of a Number,” 9/11/99, p. 82.
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If the difference is not enough to adjust all net assets, then the allocation rules
initially presented in Chapter 2 come into play once more. Recall that those rules
reflect an effort to completely adjust those assets whose valuation is most objective
and assign any deficiency to those assets whose valuation is deemed more subjective
(intangible assets and other long-term assets other than marketable securities). We
will illustrate these allocation issues again in Chapter 5.

Textbook problems (including those at the end of this chapter) will often make
simplifying assumptions, such as “Assume that any difference between cost and
book value is attributable solely to land,” or “Assume that any difference between
cost and book value is attributable to goodwill.” This latter assumption is equivalent
to stating that book values approximate fair market values. It is important, however,
to be aware that more complex adjustments are often needed, and may include a
variety of asset and liability accounts (as illustrated in detail in Chapter 5).

Returning to the example above, in which a difference of $10,000 is attributed
to land, a workpaper for a consolidated balance sheet at the date of acquisition in
this situation is presented in Illustration 3-4.

The first workpaper investment elimination entry is:

Elimination entry (1) serves to eliminate the investment account against the equity
accounts of the subsidiary and to recognize the difference between purchase price
and the book values. A new account entitled Difference Between Cost and Book
Value is created in this entry. This account is a temporary account, which will be
immediately eliminated itself in the very next entry.

Elimination entry (2) (below) serves to allocate the Difference Between Cost
and Book Value to the appropriate accounts, in this case land:

Clearly entries (1) and (2) could be collapsed into one entry, and the account
Difference Between Cost and Book Value avoided. It becomes useful, however, to
separate the two entries in situations involving a number of accounts with more
complex adjustments. As this account will be used in future chapters, it is helpful
to become acquainted with it at this point.

Reasons an Acquiring Company May Pay More Than Book Value The parent com-
pany often pays an amount in excess of the book value of the subsidiary company’s
stock acquired. Although we have assumed here that it relates to the undervalua-
tion of the subsidiary company’s land, any one, or a combination, of the following
conditions might exist:

1. The fair, or current, value of one or more specific tangible or intangible
assets of the subsidiary company may exceed its recorded value because of
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(1) Common Stock—Company (.8 � $50,000) 40,000
Other Contributed Capital—S Company (.8 � $10,000) 8,000
Retained Earnings—S Company (.8 � $20,000) 16,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 10,000

Investment in S Company 74,000

(2) Land 10,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 10,000
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appreciation. Sometimes the application of conservative accounting procedures
under generally accepted accounting principles results in book values that are
lower than fair values for assets. Examples are:
a. The current expensing of some costs that may contain future benefits (for

example, research and development expenditures),
b. The use of accelerated depreciation methods,
c. The use of the LIFO inventory method, and
d. The general prohibition against recognizing unrealized gains.

2. The excess payment may indicate the existence of unrecorded goodwill of the
subsidiary company as reflected by its above-normal earning capacity.

3. Liabilities, generally long-term ones, may be overvalued. For example, the sub-
sidiary company may have 8% bonds payable outstanding when acquired by the
parent company even though the market rate of interest is 12% at that time.

4. A variety of market factors may affect the price paid for the stock. The mere
entry of another large buyer of stock into the market would generally have the
effect of increasing the stock’s market price. In essence, the parent company is
willing to pay a premium for the right to acquire control and the related eco-
nomic advantages it expects to obtain from integrated operations.
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Purchase Accounting ILLUSTRATION 3-4

Cost Exceeds Book Value Consolidated Balance Sheet Workpaper

80% Owned Subsidiary P Company and Subsidiary

Date of Acquisition January 1, 2003

Eliminations
Noncontrolling Consolidated

P Company S Company Dr. Cr. Interest Balances

Cash 26,000 20,000 46,000
Other Current Assets 140,000 50,000 190,000
Plant and Equipment 120,000 40,000 160,000
Land 40,000 20,000 (2) 10,000 70,000
Investment in S Company 74,000 (1) 74,000
Difference between Cost (1) 10,000 (2) 10,000

and Book Value
Total Assets $400,000 $130,000 $466,000

Liabilities 60,000 50,000 110,000
Common stock

P Company 200,000 200,000
S Company 50,000 (1) 40,000 10,000

Other Contributed Capital
P Company 40,000 40,000
S Company 10,000 (1) 8,000 2,000

Retained Earnings
P Company 100,000 100,000
S Company 20,000 (1) 16,000 4,000

Noncontrolling Interest 16,000 16,000
Total Liabilities and Equity $400,000 $130,000 $84,000 $84,000 $466,000

(1) To eliminate investment in S Company.
(2) To distribute the difference between cost and book value.
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Banque Nationale de Paris (BNP) launched an unexpected bid for both French
banks Societé Generale and Paribas, apparently seeking to thwart a planned merger
between the two. A BNP official said the bids should offer a “sizable premium for
shareholders of both banks.”15

Case 3(b): Parent Company’s Cost of Investment Is Less Than Book Value
of Subsidiary Company’s Stock Acquired—Partial Ownership (Less Than
100% of Subsidiary Stock Acquired)

Finally, we illustrate the less common situation where the purchase price is below
the book value of the acquired equity, still assuming the existence of a noncontrol-
ling interest.

Assume that on January 1, 2003, P Company acquired 4,000 shares (80%) of
the outstanding common stock of S Company for $60,000, after which P Company
has $40,000 in cash and $60,000 in an Investment in S Company. Since the book
value of S Company equity acquired is $64,000 ($80,000 � 80%), equity acquired
exceeds cost by $4,000. Once more we assume that the difference between pur-
chase price and book values is attributable to land, in this case an overvaluation.
The Computation and Allocation of Difference Schedule would appear as follows:

Computation and Allocation of Difference between Cost and
Book Value
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $60,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired

($80,000 � 80%) 64,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value (4,000)
Adjust land downward 4,000

Balance —0—

In this instance the difference is negative and is shown in parentheses, and the
adjustment is a credit to land. When the difference between cost and book value is
negative (i.e., purchase price is below book values), it generally reflects one or a
combination of the following:16

1. One or more of the subsidiary company’s assets is overvalued,
2. One or more of the subsidiary company’s liabilities is undervalued or unrecog-

nized, or

3. The parent company simply made a bargain purchase.

As usual, the Computation and Allocation Schedule yields two eliminating/
adjusting entries. The investment elimination entry is:
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15 WSJ, “BNP Offer Could Block French Deal,” by Thomas Kamm, 3/10/99, p. A14.
16 Chapter 5 elaborates on these alternatives, with illustrations.

(1) Common Stock—S Company (.8 � $50,000) 40,000
Other Contributed Capital—S Company (.8 � $10,000) 8,000
Retained Earnings—S Company (.8 � $20,000) 16,000

Investment in S Company 60,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 4,000
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Note that when the difference is negative, it appears in the journal entry as a credit
in order to balance the entry. In the second workpaper entry, this account will be
debited to eliminate it, and the appropriate underlying asset and/or liability
accounts will be adjusted to reflect a net downward adjustment of net assets, in this
case land. The second elimination entry is:

A workpaper for a consolidated balance sheet at date of acquisition in this 
situation is presented in Illustration 3-5.

Subsidiary Treasury Stock Holdings

A subsidiary may hold some of its own shares as treasury stock at the time the par-
ent company acquires its interest. Recall that treasury stock is a contra-equity
account, which has a debit balance on the books of the subsidiary. The computa-
tion of the percentage interest acquired, as well as the total equity acquired, is
based on shares outstanding and should, therefore, exclude treasury shares.

For example, assume that P Company acquired 18,000 shares of S Company
common stock on January 1, 2003, for a payment of $320,000 when S Company’s
stockholders’ equity section appeared as follows:
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(2) Difference between Cost and Book Value 4,000
Land 4,000

Purchase Accounting ILLUSTRATION 3-5

Book Value Exceeds Cost Consolidated Balance Sheet Workpaper

80% Owned Subsidiary P Company and Subsidiary

Date of Acquisition January 1, 2003

Eliminations
Noncontrolling Consolidated

P Company S Company Dr. Cr. Interest Balances

Cash 40,000 20,000 60,000
Other Current Assets 140,000 50,000 190,000
Plant and Equipment 120,000 40,000 160,000
Land 40,000 20,000 (2) 4,000 56,000
Investment in S Company 60,000 (1) 60,000
Difference between Cost (2) 4,000 (1) 4,000

and Book Value
Total Assets $400,000 $130,000 $466,000

Liabilities 60,000 50,000 110,000
Common stock

P Company 200,000 200,000
S Company 50,000 (1) 40,000 10,000

Other Contributed Capital
P Company 40,000 40,000
S Company 10,000 (1) 8,000 2,000

Retained Earnings
P Company 100,000 100,000
S Company 20,000 (1) 16,000 4,000

Noncontrolling Interest 16,000 16,000
Total Liabilities and Equity $400,000 $130,000 $68,000 $68,000 $466,000

(1) To eliminate investment in S Company.
(2) To distribute the difference between cost and book value.
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Common Stock, $10 par, 25,000 shares issued $250,000
Other Contributed Capital 50,000
Retained Earnings 125,000

425,000

Less: Treasury Stock at cost, 1,000 shares 20,000
Total Stockholders’ Equity $405,000

P Company’s interest in S Company is 75% (18,000 shares/24,000 shares), and total
equity acquired is 75% � $405,000, or $303,750, which results in a difference
between cost and book value of $16,250 ($320,000 � $303,750).

Because the treasury stock account represents a contra stockholders’ equity
account, the parent company’s share must be eliminated by a credit when the invest-
ment account and subsidiary company’s equity accounts are eliminated on the
workpaper. Thus, the workpaper eliminating entry is:

The remainder of the treasury stock ($5,000) represents a deduction in the
noncontrolling interest in net assets and is, therefore, carried over as a subtraction
from the noncontrolling interest.

Other Intercompany Balance Sheet Eliminations

Up to this point we have discussed the elimination of the parent company’s share
of the subsidiary equity acquired against the related investment account. Balance
sheet eliminations of a variety of intercompany receivables and payables are also
often required. Intercompany accounts receivable, notes receivable, and interest
receivable, for example, must be eliminated against the reciprocal accounts
payable, notes payable, and interest payable. Cash advances among affiliated com-
panies constitute receivables and payables and must be eliminated. Eliminations
also must be made for all types of intercompany accruals for such items as rent
and other services. The full amount of all intercompany receivables and payables
is eliminated without regard to the percentage of control held by the parent
company.

For example, to eliminate a $25,000 cash advance made by P Company and
received by S Company, the following entry would be made:

Similarly, to eliminate a $100,000 intercompany account receivable/payable, this
entry would be made:

Chapter 3 Consolidated Balance Sheets: The Use of Workpapers 93

Common Stock—S Company (.75 � $250,000) 187,500
Other Contributed Capital—S Company (.75 � $50,000) 37,500
Retained Earnings—S Company (.75 � $125,000) 93,750
Difference between Cost and Book Value 16,250

Investment in S Company 320,000
Treasury Stock—S Company (.75 � $20,000) 15,000

Advance from P Company $25,000
Advance to S Company $25,000

Accounts Payable (to S) $100,000
Accounts Receivable (from P) $100,000
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Adjusting Entries Prior to Eliminating Entries

At times, workpaper adjustments to accounting data may be needed before appro-
priate eliminating entries can be accomplished. The need for adjustments generally
arises because of in-transit items where only one of the affiliates has recorded the
effect of an intercompany transaction. For example, the parent company may have
recorded a cash advance to one of its subsidiaries near year-end but the subsidiary has
not yet recorded the receipt of the advance. Thus, the Advances to Subsidiary
account on the parent company’s books has no reciprocal account on the subsidiary
company’s books. An adjusting workpaper entry debiting Cash and crediting
Advances from Parent is required so that the asset (cash) can be appropriately
included in consolidated assets and a reciprocal account established that permits
the elimination of intercompany advances. The workpaper eliminations columns
may be used to enter these adjusting entries. Alternatively, it is possible simply to
adjust the subsidiary company’s statements prior to their entry on the workpaper.

TEST
YOUR KNOWLEDGE

NOTE: Solutions to Test Your Knowledge questions are found at the end of each chapter
before the end-of-chapter questions.

Multiple Choice

1. Which of the following adjustments do not occur in the consolidating process?

a. Elimination of parent’s retained earnings
b. Elimination of intra-company balances
c. Allocations of difference between cost and book value
d. Elimination of the investment account

2. The noncontrolling interest in the subsidiary is reported as:

a. Asset
b. Liability
c. Equity
d. Expense

True or False

3. ______a. In computing the difference between the cost and book value, the cost
is the market value of the acquired entity rather than the actual purchase price.

______b. In the Computation and Allocation of Difference between Cost and BV
schedule for a stock acquisition, the book value of acquired equity is computed
as: (percentage acquired) (net assets of S company) or (percentage acquired)
(equity of S company).
______c. Once the eliminating/adjusting entry columns of the worksheet are
completed, the entries are posted to the books of the company’s general ledger
and therefore need not be repeated in the following year in the consolidating
process.
______d. In allocating the difference between cost and book values, if the differ-
ence is more than needed to adjust all net assets to market values, then the
excess is goodwill.
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A COMPREHENSIVE ILLUSTRATION—MORE THAN ONE
SUBSIDIARY COMPANY

No particular problem exists where the parent company owns a direct controlling
interest in more than one subsidiary company. The balance sheet of each affiliate
is entered on the workpaper, any adjustments needed are prepared, and all related
intercompany accounts, including those between subsidiary companies, are elimi-
nated. The remaining balances are combined, and they constitute the consolidated
balance sheet.

It is useful at this point to look at an illustrative workpaper and consolidated
balance sheet for a parent company, P Company, and its two subsidiaries, S Company
and T Company. Assume that on January 1, 2003, P Company acquired 90% and
80% of the outstanding common stock of S Company and T Company, respectively.
Immediately after the stock acquisition, balance sheets of the affiliates were:

January 1, 2003
P Company S Company T Company

Cash $  82,000 $  36,000 $   4,000
Accounts Receivable (net) 68,000 59,000 10,000
Inventories 76,000 64,000 15,000
Advances to T Company 20,000
Investment in S Company 250,000
Investment in T Company 115,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 200,000 241,000 130,000
Land 24,000 10,000 6,000

Total Assets $835,000 $410,000 $165,000

Accounts Payable $  85,000 $  40,000 $  25,000
Notes Payable —0— 100,000 —0—
Common Stock, $10 par value 500,000 200,000 100,000
Retained Earnings 250,000 70,000 40,000

Total Liabilities and Equity $835,000 $410,000 $165,000

Since the Investments are carried in two separate accounts, it is best to prepare
two separate Computation and Allocation Schedules, one for each investment, as
follows:

Computation and Allocation of the Difference between Cost
and Book Value (Investment in S Company)
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $250,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired ($270,000 � 90%) 243,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 7,000
Adjust plant and equipment upward (7,000)

Balance —0—
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Other information:
1. On the date of acquisition, P Company mailed a cash advance of $20,000 to T Company to

improve T Company’s working capital position. T Company had not yet received and, there-
fore, had not yet recorded the advance.

2. On the date of acquisition, P Company owed S Company $6,000 for purchases on open
account, and S Company owed T Company $5,000 for such purchases. All these items had
been sold by the purchasing companies prior to the date of acquisition.

3. The difference between cost and the book value of equity acquired relates to the underval-
uation of subsidiary plant and equipment.

072-115.Jeter03.QXD  7/14/03  7:18 PM  Page 95



Computation and Allocation of the Difference between Cost
and Book Value (Investment in T Company)
Cost of Investment (purchase price) $115,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired ($140,000 � 80%) 112,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 3,000
Adjust plant and equipment upward (3,000)

Balance —0—

A workpaper for the preparation of a consolidated balance sheet on January 1,
2003, for P, S, and T companies is presented in Illustration 3-6. Several items on the
workpaper should be noted. The cash in transit from P Company to T Company was
picked up through an adjusting entry; if it had not been, $20,000 cash would have
been excluded from the consolidated balance sheet. The adjustment also provided
a reciprocal account, Advance from P Company, that permitted the elimination of
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Purchase Accounting ILLUSTRATION 3-6

Two Partially Owned Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheet Workpaper

Date of Acquisition P Company and Subsidiaries

January 1, 2003

Eliminations
P S T Noncontrolling Consolidated

Company Company Company Dr. Cr. Interest Balances

Cash 82,000 36,000 4,000 (a) 20,000 142,000
Accounts Receivable (net) 68,000 59,000 10,000 (2) 11,000 126,000
Inventories 76,000 64,000 15,000 155,000
Advance to T Company 20,000 (1) 20,000
Investment in S Company 250,000 (3) 250,000
Investment in T Company 115,000 (4) 115,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 200,000 241,000 130,000 (5) 7,000

(6) 3,000 581,000

Land 24,000 10,000 6,000 40,000
Difference between Cost (3) 7,000 (5) 7,000

and Book Value (4) 3,000 (6) 3,000
Total Assets 835,000 410,000 165,000 1,044,000

Accounts Payable 85,000 40,000 25,000 (2) 11,000 139,000
Notes Payable 100,000 100,000
Common Stock

P Company 500,000 500,000
S Company 200,000 (3) 180,000 20,000
T Company 100,000 (4) 80,000 20,000

Retained Earnings
P Company 250,000 250,000
S Company 70,000 (3) 63,000 7,000
T Company 40,000 (4) 32,000 8,000

Advance from P Company (1) 20,000 (a) 20,000
Noncontrolling Interest 55,000 55,000
Total Liabilities and Equity 835,000 410,000 165,000 426,000 426,000 1,044,000

(a) To adjust for cash advance in transit from P Company to T Company.
(1) To eliminate intercompany advances.
(2) To eliminate intercompany accounts payable and receivable.
(3) To eliminate investment in S Company.
(4) To eliminate investment in T Company.
(5) To allocate the cost over book value for S Company to plant and equipment.
(6) To allocate the cost over book value for T Company to plant and equipment.
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the intercompany transaction for advances. (The perceptive reader will have already
noticed that the same net effect could have been accomplished by a combined
adjusting and eliminating entry with a debit to Cash and a credit to Advance to T.)

The elimination of all intercompany accounts receivable and accounts payable,
including those between subsidiary companies, was accomplished through one
entry. There is no need to eliminate them individually. Notice also that the
equity acquired in each subsidiary company was eliminated against each individual
investment account.

The formal consolidated balance sheet is prepared from the detail in the con-
solidated balance sheet columns of the workpaper and is presented in Illustration
3-7. The balance sheet data are classified according to normal balance sheet arrange-
ments. As discussed earlier, noncontrolling interest in consolidated net assets is clas-
sified in some cases as a liability, in others as a part of stockholders’ equity, and in still
others in a separate section. In the treatment illustrated here, the noncontrolling
interest in consolidated net assets is reported as a component of stockholders’ equity
(preferably the first component of equity listed in the balance sheet).

LIMITATIONS OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

As noted earlier, consolidated statements may have limited usefulness for noncon-
trolling stockholders, subsidiary creditors, and regulatory agencies. Noncontrolling
stockholders and regulatory agencies can find little information of value to them in
the consolidated statements because they contain insufficient detail about the indi-
vidual subsidiaries. Also, creditors of a specific company have claims only against
the resources of that company unless the parent guarantees the claims.

Limitations of Consolidated Statements 97

ILLUSTRATION 3-7

Consolidated Balance Sheet

P Company and Subsidiaries

January 1, 2003

Assets

Current Assets:
Cash $ 142,000
Accounts Receivable (net) 126,000
Inventories 155,000

Total Current Assets 423,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 581,000
Land 40,000

Total Assets $1,044,000

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $ 139,000
Notes Payable 100,000
Total Liabilities 239,000

Stockholders’ Equity:
Noncontrolling Interest in Consolidated Net Assets $ 55,000
Common Stock, $10 par value 500,000
Retained Earnings 250,000 805,000
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $1,044,000
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1. Understand the concept of control as used in reference to
consolidations. When one firm (referred to as the
parent) effectively controls the activities of another
firm (the subsidiary) through the direct or indirect
ownership of some or all of its voting stock, consoli-
dated financial statements are required. In a 1999
revised Exposure Draft, the FASB defined control as
the ability of an entity to direct the policies and man-
agement that guide the ongoing activities of another
entity so as to increase its benefits and limit its losses
from that other entity’s activities.

2. Explain the role of a noncontrolling interest in business
combinations. The noncontrolling interest in a con-
solidated entity refers to the stock of the subsidiary
firm, if any, which is not controlled by the parent.
This interest appears as a component of equity in
the consolidated balance sheet.

3. Describe the reasons why a company acquires a subsidiary
rather than its net assets. A firm may acquire stock by
open market purchases or by cash tender offers to the
subsidiary’s stockholders, thus avoiding the often
lengthy and difficult negotiations that are required in
a complete takeover. Control of the subsidiary’s opera-
tions can be accomplished with a much smaller invest-
ment, since not all of the stock need be acquired. Also,
the separate legal existence of the individual affiliates
provides an element of protection of the parent’s
assets from attachment by creditors of the subsidiary.

4. Describe the valuation and classification of accounts in
consolidated financial statements. In the consolidated
balance sheet, the assets and liabilities of the sub-
sidiary are combined with those of the parent on an
item-by-item basis. Under purchase accounting
rules, those assets are reflected at their fair market
values, as determined at the date of acquisition,
including goodwill, if any (and as subsequently
depreciated).

5. List the requirements for inclusion of a subsidiary in con-
solidated financial statements. Essentially all controlled
corporations should be consolidated with the con-
trolling entity. Exceptions include those situations
where: ownership is temporary, the subsidiary is in
legal reorganization or bankruptcy, or a foreign sub-
sidiary operates in an environment that casts signifi-
cant doubt about the parent’s effective control.

6. Discuss the limitations of consolidated financial state-
ments. Consolidated financial statements are of
limited use to noncontrolling stockholders, to sub-
sidiary creditors, and possibly to regulatory agencies
(e.g., if only the subsidiary is regulated). Also, when
highly diversified companies operate across several
industries, the aggregation of dissimilar data makes
analysis difficult.

7. Record the investment in the subsidiary on the parent’s
books at the date of acquisition. On the books of the
parent company, the investment is recorded as a

98 Chapter 3 Consolidated Financial Statements—Date of Acquisition

In addition, financial analysts have criticized consolidated statements on sev-
eral counts. For example, highly diversified companies operating across several
industries, often the result of mergers and acquisitions, are difficult to analyze or
compare. For instance, General Electric (GE) reports consolidated financial state-
ments that include its credit corporation. The combining of a financial company
with a manufacturing company makes interpreting the statements more difficult. In
an attempt to make the statements more readable, GE reports three columns with
each statement: one showing the total consolidated statements, a column for GE,
and a column for the credit corporation. Consolidated operating results for such
companies cannot be compared with industry standards, nor can one conglomer-
ate be compared with another. Both the SEC and the FASB have developed require-
ments for segmental reporting in an effort to address these concerns. Determining
what constitutes a segment is not easy, however, and the standards have met criti-
cism and subsequent revision. Segmental reporting is discussed in Chapter 15.

Regardless of these limitations, however, consolidated statements continue to
grow in importance. The vast majority of publicly held companies own one or more
subsidiaries and report on a consolidated basis. Thus, consolidated statements have
assumed the position of primary statements, and the separate statements of indi-
vidual subsidiaries are considered supplementary.

SUMMARY
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APPENDIX A

Summary of Proposed FASB Statement
(Consolidated Financial Statements: Purpose and Policy)
February 23, 1999

NOTE ON STATUS OF PROPOSED CHANGES: In this appendix, we summarize
the proposed FASB Statement on the purpose and policy of consolidated financial
statements. However, we note that in January 2001, the FASB indicated that there
was not enough Board member support to move forward at that time with the 
proposed changes. The Board also indicated an intent to continue to develop guid-
ance for situations where control exists but is not apparent based on the form 
of the arrangement and its opinion that an effort to redefine “control” should 
continue.

In its update of January 2001, the FASB included the following statements: Several
FASB Board members are concerned about the appropriateness of determining that
nonshared decision-making ability can exist based on the anticipated nonaction by
other holders of voting rights. They also are concerned about whether the proposed
treatment of convertible and option instruments that give the ability to obtain 
voting rights is effective as well as the operationality of certain other provisions.

The proposed Statement would require a controlling entity to consolidate all enti-
ties that it controls (subsidiaries) unless control is temporary at the date the entity
becomes a subsidiary. The new standard is expected to be issued in the second
quarter of 2000, and would be applied by restatement to earlier periods presented
in comparative statements.

“Business enterprises and not-for-profit organizations often carry out and finance a
significant part of their economic activity through subsidiaries, joint ventures and
complex strategic arrangements,” says Ronald Bossio, senior project manager.
“The Board believes that this Statement fills a significant need by providing a

Appendix 99

debit to Investment in Subsidiary and a credit to the
appropriate account(s) based on the consideration
used in the exchange (cash, debt, stock, or a combi-
nation). Under purchase accounting rules, any stock
issued is recorded at its fair market value, and the
investment is thus also recorded at the fair value of
consideration paid (including direct acquisition
costs, if any).

8. Prepare the consolidated workpapers and eliminating
entries at the date of acquisition. The consolidated
workpapers serve to sum the assets and liabilities of
the parent and subsidiary, with adjustments made to
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary to “mark” their
values toward market values, based on the acquisi-
tion price. These adjustments are accomplished via
“eliminating and adjusting” entries, which also serve

to eliminate the investment account against the por-
tion of the subsidiary’s equity accounts owned by the
parent. Thus, the consolidated balance sheet reflects
only the equity of the controlling shareholders (in
the parent firm) and the noncontrolling sharehold-
ers (in the subsidiary).

9. Compute and allocate the difference between cost (purchase
price) and book value of the acquired firm’s equity. The
difference between cost and book value of the
acquired firm’s equity, sometimes referred to as
the purchase differential, is the amount by which
the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities must be adjusted
in total (including the recognition of goodwill, if
any). The use of an account by this name facilitates
this process in the eliminating entries, and the
differential account itself is eliminated as well.
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framework for assessing and determining whether a particular relationship between
two entities involves control of one entity by the other entity.”17

The following definitions, characteristics, and indicators were taken from the 1999
Exposure Draft.

• Control is defined as the ability of an entity to direct the policies and manage-
ment that guide the ongoing activities of another entity so as to increase its ben-
efits and limit its losses from that other entity’s activities. For purposes of
consolidated financial statements, control involves decision-making ability not
shared with others.

• Affiliate is an entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, another entity, either directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries.

• A parent is an entity that controls one or more subsidiaries.

• A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity.

The Board identifies a list of circumstances establishing the presumption of con-
trol, in the absence of evidence that demonstrates otherwise. Control is presumed
(though rebuttable) if an entity (including its subsidiaries):

• Has a majority voting interest in the election of a corporation’s governing body
or a right to appoint a majority of the members of its governing body.

• Has a large minority voting interest in the election of a corporation’s governing
body and no other party or organized group of parties has a significant voting
interest.

• Has a unilateral ability to (1) obtain a majority voting interest in the election of
a corporation’s governing body or (2) obtain a right to appoint a majority of the
corporation’s governing body through the present ownership of convertible
securities or other rights currently exercisable at the option of the holder (and
the expected benefit from exercise or conversion exceeds the expected cost).

• Is the only partner in a limited partnership and no other partner or organized
group of partners has the current ability to dissolve the limited partnership or
otherwise remove the general partner.

In a situation where a corporation is established without a governing body, the
above indicators do not apply. Instead an assessment of all factors and circum-
stances surrounding the establishment of the corporation is substituted to establish
presumed control. In these cases, some relevant factors to distinguish between a
parent-subsidiary relationship and other relationships where control is shared
(rather than resting with a single entity) include:

• Whether one or more entities provided significant funding;
• Whether an entity has or shares the decision-making powers and duties typical

of a board of directors (especially those related to directing the use and access
to the firm’s assets and the selection and retention of its management);
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17 Financial Accounting Standards Board, News Release, “FASB Proposal Establishes When Entities Should
Be Consolidated,” 2/23/99.
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• Whether an entity has the right to change the corporation’s articles of incorpo-
ration; and

• Whether an entity has or shares significant risks and rewards of ownership.

The Board considered requiring both control and a specified level of ownership as
two separate and necessary conditions for consolidation, but rejected this require-
ment, deciding instead that control alone is a sufficient and appropriate condition
for requiring consolidated financial statements. Also, some respondents to the
Preliminary Views issued prior to the original Exposure Draft questioned whether
the policy should be extended to investment companies, venture capitalists, and
other entities carrying investments at fair value. In the revised Exposure Draft, the
Board admitted that difficult questions arise for special-purpose entities but con-
cluded that there was no basis for providing an exemption to certain types of enti-
ties merely because difficulties may be encountered in assessing control.18

APPENDIX B

Deferred Taxes on the Date of Acquisition

If a purchase acquisition is tax-free to the seller, the tax bases of the acquired assets
and liabilities are carried forward at historical book values. However, the assets and
liabilities of the acquired company are recorded on the consolidated books at
adjusted fair value. Under current guidelines, the tax effects of the difference
between consolidated book values and the tax bases must be recorded as deferred
tax liabilities or assets (SFAS No. 109).

Consider the following example. Suppose that Purchasing Company
acquires 90% of Selling Company by issuing stock valued at $800,000. The only
difference between book value and fair value relates to depreciable plant and
equipment. Plant and equipment has a market value of $400,000 and a book value
of $250,000. All other book values approximate market values. Assume that the
combination qualifies as a nontaxable exchange. On the date of acquisition, Selling
Company’s book value of equity is $600,000, which includes $150,000 of common
stock and $450,000 of retained earnings. Assume a 30% tax rate. Consider the
following Computation and Allocation Schedule with and without considering
deferred taxes.

Computation and Allocation of the Difference between Cost and
Book Value

Without With Deferred
Deferred Taxes Taxes

Cost of Investment (Purchase Price) $800,000 $800,000
Book Value of Equity Acquired ($600,000 � 90%) 540,000 540,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 260,000 260,000
Adjust plant and equipment upward

(400,00 – 250,000) (90%) (135,000) (135,000)
Deferred tax liability on plant and equipment

(400,000 – 250,000) (90%)(30%) 40,500
Goodwill 125,000 165,500
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18 FASB, Proposed Statement, “Consolidated Financial Statements: Purpose and Policy,” 2/23/99,
par. 232.
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Notice that goodwill is increased when deferred taxes are computed on the
timing difference related to the depreciable bases of plant and equipment. This
occurs because the additional future depreciation from the write-up of plant and
equipment is reported on the consolidated income statement but is nondeductible
for tax purposes, creating a timing difference between book and tax. Recall that
deferred taxes are classified in the balance sheet according to the item that gave
rise to them. Since plant and equipment are long-term assets, the deferred tax
liability would also be long-term.

The workpaper entry to eliminate the investment account is as follows:

The entry to allocate the difference between cost and book value is affected by the
deferred tax amounts. The following entries show the allocation with and without
deferred taxes.

Of the two entries above, only the entry with deferred taxes is complete, accord-
ing to SFAS No. 109. Thus a deferred tax liability or asset should be recorded
for each adjustment in the Computation and Allocation Schedule that creates a
timing difference. For instance, if inventory value is increased, a current deferred tax
liability would be created.

One final point is worth noting about goodwill: while there are no official inter-
pretations of whether goodwill itself should be “grossed up” on the balance sheet
(with an additional deferred tax liability recorded), it is not common practice.
If goodwill were grossed up in the previous example, goodwill would be $236,429
(or $165,500/.7) instead of $165,500, and the deferred tax liability on goodwill
would be $70,928 (or $236,429 � .3). Clearly, this results in increased goodwill. The
authors, however, believe the grossed-up approach to be theoretically sound.

APPENDIX C

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

FASB issued guidance to improve the financial reporting for certain special-purpose
entities on January 17, 2003. Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” states as its objective: “to improve financial reporting by companies
involved with variable interest entities.” It changes the requirement for consolidation
from a voting interest to a requirement for consolidation if the company is subject to
a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities, or is entitled
to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. The company that con-
solidates the variable interest entity is referred to as the “primary beneficiary.”
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(1) Common Stock—Selling Company (.9 � $150,000) 135,000
Retained Earnings—Selling Company (.9 � $450,000) 405,000
Difference between Cost and Book Value 260,000

Investment in S Company 800,000

Without Deferred Taxes With Deferred Taxes

(2) Plant and Equipment 135,000 135,000
Goodwill 125,000 165,500

Deferred tax liability (long-term) 40,500
Difference Between Cost and 260,000 260,000

Book Value
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Although some SPEs are included in this population (and were targeted by FASB
from the start), FASB has avoided the task of defining an SPE in clear terms.
Examples of relationships that give rise to “variable interests” include loans, leases,
service contracts, call options, credit enhancements, derivatives, and guarantees.
Financial interests that convey economic risks and rewards associated with another
entity can “derive” from such relationships.

An entity is considered a VIE and is subject to consolidation under the
Interpretation if its total equity at risk is insufficient to permit the entity to finance
its own activities without additional subordinated financial support, or if the equity
investors lack one of three characteristics of a controlling financial interest. These
characteristics are:
• Direct or indirect ability to make decisions that control the entity through voting
or similar rights,
• Investment is subordinate to all other interests; return is not guaranteed, and
• Return to equity investors is unlimited (other than by nature of assets).

If the entity is determined to be a VIE, the next relevant question is: Does the
evaluating entity have a variable interest in the entity, and if so, does it have a major-
ity of the variable interests? To answer the first question, the evaluating entity must
consider all interests that could result in a significant loss due to a contingent lia-
bility to transfer assets to the VIA, with the following three exceptions:
• Fixed and unconditional obligations to the VIE,
• An interest in less than a majority of the VIE’s assets, and
• Leases entered into at market terms with no residual value guarantee.

If it is determined that the evaluating entity has a majority of the variable inter-
ests, then the evaluating entity is the primary beneficiary and consolidation is
required.19

“A final version of the new guidelines reveals that the effort to restrict the use of
Enronesque off-the-books partnerships has become mired in the kind of detail that
only an accountant can wallow in. In fact, the new rules may be more complicated
than the existing approach. And companies are already plotting how to circumvent
the new rules, just as they did—to spectacular effect in the Enron example—the old
ones. . . Estimates of the assets currently in such entities run into trillions of
dollars.”20

TEST
YOUR KNOWLEDGE 

NOTE: Solutions to Test Your Knowledge questions are found at the end of each chapter
before the end-of-chapter questions.

Multiple Choice

1. Parent Company P purchased 90% of Subsidiary Company S for stock worth
$100,000. Subsidiary Company S had a net book value of $50,000 including:
“bonds payable” at a book value of $10,000 and a fair value of $15,000;
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19 “FASB Issues Guidance to Improve Financial Reporting for SPEs, Off-Balance Sheet Structures and
Similar Entities,” News Release, FASB, 1/17/03.
20 “ ‘Off the Books’ Cleanup Isn’t a Snap,” by Cassell Bryan-Low and Carrick Mollenkamp, WSJ, 1-13-03,
page C1.
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1. What are the advantages of acquiring the majority of
the voting stock of another company rather than
acquiring all its voting stock?

2. What is the justification for preparing consolidated
financial statements when, in fact, it is apparent that
the consolidated group is not a legal entity?

3. Why is it often necessary to prepare separate finan-
cial statements for each legal entity in a consolidated
group even though consolidated statements provide
a better economic picture of the combined activities?

4. What aspects of control must exist before a sub-
sidiary is consolidated?

5. Why are consolidated workpapers used in preparing
consolidated financial statements?

6. Define noncontrolling (minority) interest. List
three methods of reporting the noncontrolling
interest in a consolidated balance sheet.

7. Give several reasons why a parent company would be
willing to pay more than book value for subsidiary
stock acquired.

8. What effect do subsidiary treasury stock holdings
have at the time the subsidiary is acquired? How
should the treasury stock be treated on consolidated
workpapers?

9. What effect does a noncontrolling interest have 
on the amount of intercompany receivables and
payables eliminated on a consolidated balance
sheet?

“inventory” with a book value of $5,000 and a fair value of $7,000; and “PP&E”
with a book value of $10,000 and a fair value of $20,000. Assuming the tax rate is
40% (and ignoring any deferred taxes on goodwill), net deferred taxes are:

a. $2,520
b. $2,800
c. $6,120
d. $6,800

2. Assuming an acquisition is not a bargain, the impact of reflecting a net deferred
tax liability account is that the firm will also reflect an increased amount of:

a. Land
b. Difference between Cost and Book Value
c. Common Stock
d. Goodwill

TEST
YOUR KNOWLEDGE
SOLUTIONS

3-1 1. a
2. a
3. d
4. d

3-2 1. a
2. c
3a. F
3b. T
3c. F
3d. T

3-3 1. a
2. d

(The letter A or B indicated for a question, exercise, or problem refers to a related
appendix.)

QUESTIONS
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EXERCISES

EXERCISE 3-1 Workpaper Elimination Entries: Three Cases
Prepare in general journal form the workpaper entries to eliminate Prancer Company’s
investment in Saltez Company and to allocate any difference between cost and book value in
the preparation of a consolidated balance sheet at the date of acquisition for each of the
following independent cases:

Saltez Company Equity Balances

Percent of Other
Stock Investment Common Contributed Retained

Case Owned Cost Stock Capital Earnings

a. 100% $351,000 $160,000 $92,000 $43,000
b. 90 232,000 190,000 75,000 (29,000)
c. 80 159,000 180,000 40,000 (4,000)

Any difference between cost and book value of net assets acquired relates to subsidiary prop-
erty plant and equipment.

EXERCISE 3-2 Stock Purchase Entries
On January 1, 2004, Polo Company purchased 100% of the common stock of Save Company
by issuing 40,000 shares of its (Polo’s) $10 par value common stock with a market price of
$17.50 per share. Polo incurred cash expenses of $20,000 for registering and issuing the
common stock. The stockholders’ equity sections of the two companies’ balance sheets on
December 31, 2003, were:

Polo Save

Common Stock, $10 par value $350,000 $320,000
Other Contributed Capital 590,000 175,000
Retained Earnings 380,000 205,000

Required:
A. Prepare the journal entry(s) on the books of Polo Company to record the purchase of the

common stock of Save Company and related expenses.
B. Prepare the elimination entry(s) required for the preparation of a consolidated balance

sheet workpaper on the date of acquisition.

EXERCISE 3-3 Consolidated Balance Sheet, Stock Purchase
On January 2, 2004, Prunce Company acquired 90% of the outstanding common stock of
Sun Company for $192,000 cash. Just before the acquisition, the balance sheets of the two
companies were as follows:

Exercises 105

10B. Did the decision in SFAS No. 109 to require that a
deferred tax asset or liability be recognized for
differences between the assigned values and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities recognized in

purchase business combinations change the amount of
consolidated net income reported in years subsequent
to the business combination? Explain.

072-115.Jeter03.QXD  7/14/03  7:18 PM  Page 105



Prunce Sun

Cash $260,000 $ 64,000
Accounts Receivable (net) 142,000 23,000
Inventory 117,000 54,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 386,000 98,000
Land 63,000 32,000

Total Assets $968,000 $271,000

Accounts Payable $104,000 $ 47,000
Mortgage Payable 72,000 39,000
Common Stock, $2 par value 400,000 70,000
Other Contributed Capital 208,000 20,000
Retained Earnings 184,000 95,000

Total Equities $968,000 $271,000

The fair values of Sun Company’s assets and liabilities are equal to their book values with the
exception of land.

Required:
A. Prepare a journal entry to record the purchase of Sun Company’s common stock.
B. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet at the date of acquisition.

EXERCISE 3-4 Purchase, Date of Acquisition
On January 1, 2003, Peach Company issued 1,500 of its $20 par value common shares with
a fair value of $60 per share in exchange for the 2,000 outstanding common shares of Swartz
Company in a purchase transaction. Registration costs amounted to $1,700, paid in cash. Just
prior to the acquisition, the balance sheets of the two companies were as follows:

Peach Swartz
Company Company

Cash $ 73,000 $ 13,000
Accounts Receivable (net) 95,000 19,000
Inventory 58,000 25,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 95,000 43,000
Land 26,000 22,000

Total Assets $347,000 $122,000

Accounts Payable $ 66,000 $ 18,000
Notes Payable 82,000 21,000
Common Stock, $20 par value 100,000 40,000
Other Contributed Capital 60,000 24,000
Retained Earnings $ 39,000 19,000

Total Equities $347,000 $122,000

Any difference between the cost of the investment and the book value of equity acquired
relates to goodwill.

Required:
A. Prepare the journal entry on Peach Company’s books to record the exchange of stock.
B. Prepare a Computation and Allocation Schedule for the difference between purchase

price and book value.
C. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet at the date of acquisition.

EXERCISE 3-5 Treasury Stock Held by Subsidiary
Pool Company purchased 90% of the outstanding common stock of Spruce Company on
December 31, 2004, for cash. At that time the balance sheet of Spruce Company was as follows:
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Current Assets $1,050,000
Plant and Equipment 990,000
Land 170,000

Total Assets $2,210,000

Liabilities $ 820,000
Common Stock, $20 par value 900,000
Other Contributed Capital 440,000
Retained Earnings 150,000
Total 2,310,000
Less Treasury Stock at Cost, 5,000 shares 100,000

Total Equities $2,210,000

Required:
A. Prepare the elimination entry required for the preparation of a consolidated balance

sheet workpaper on December 31, 2004, assuming:
(1) The purchase price of the stock was $1,400,000.
(2) The purchase price of the stock was $1,160,000.
Assume further that any difference between the cost of the investment and the book value
of net assets acquired relates to subsidiary land.

B. Compute the amount of the noncontrolling interest that would appear on the December
31, 2004 consolidated balance sheet.

EXERCISE 3-6 Elimination Entry, Consolidated Balance Sheet
On December 31, 2003, Price Company purchased a controlling interest in Shipley
Company. The balance sheet of Price Company and the consolidated balance sheet on
December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Price Company Consolidated

Cash $  22,000 $     37,900
Accounts Receivable 35,000 57,000
Inventory 127,000 161,600
Investment in Shipley Company 212,000 —0—
Plant and Equipment (net) 190,000 337,000
Land 120,000 218,400

Total $706,000 $   811,900

Accounts Payable $  42,000 $   112,500
Note Payable 100,000 100,000
Noncontrolling Interest in Shipley Company —0— 35,400
Common Stock 300,000 300,000
Other Contributed Capital 164,000 164,000
Retained Earnings 100,000 100,000

Total $706,000 $   811,900

On the date of acquisition, the stockholders’ equity section of Shipley Company’s balance
sheet was as follows:

Common Stock $  90,000
Other Contributed Capital 90,000
Retained Earnings 56,000

Total $236,000

Required:
A. Prepare the investment elimination entry made to prepare a consolidated balance sheet

workpaper. Any difference between cost and book value relates to subsidiary land.
B. Prepare Shipley Company’s balance sheet as it appeared on December 31, 2003.
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EXERCISE 3-7 Intercompany Receivables and Payables
Polychromasia, Inc. had a number of receivables from subsidiaries at the balance sheet
date, as well as several payables to subsidiaries. Of its five subsidiaries, four are consoli-
dated in the financial statements (Green Company, Black Inc., White & Sons, and Silver
Company). Only the Brown Company is not consolidated with Polychromasia and the
other affiliates. The following list of receivables and payables shows balances at December
31, 2006.

Interest Receivable from the Brown Company $50,000
Interest Payable to Black Inc. 75,000
Intercompany Payable to Silver Company 105,000
Long-Term Advance to Green Company 150,000
Long-Term Payable to Silver Company 450,000
Long-Term Receivable from Brown Company 500,000

Required:
A. Show the classification and amount(s) that should be reported in the consolidated bal-

ance sheet of Polychromasia, Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 as receivable
from subsidiaries.

B. Show the classification and amount(s) that should be reported in the consolidated bal-
ance sheet of Polychromasia, Inc. and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 as payable to
subsidiaries.

EXERCISE 3-8 Stock Acquisition, Journal Entry by Parent
Peep Inc. acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Shy Inc. for $2,500,000 cash
and 15,000 shares of its common stock ($2 par value). The stock’s market value was $40 on
the acquisition date.

Required:
Prepare the journal entry to record the acquisition.

EXERCISE 3-9 Acquisition Costs
Assume the same information from Exercise 3-8. In addition, Peep Inc. incurred the follow-
ing direct costs:

Accounting fees for the purchase $15,000
Legal fees for registering the common stock 30,000
Other legal fees for the acquisition 45,000
Travel expenses to meet with Shy managers 5,000
SEC filing fees 2,000

$97,000

Before the acquisition consummation date, $90,000 of the direct costs was charged to
a deferred charges account pending the completion of the acquisition. The remaining
$7,000 has not been accrued or paid.

Required:
Prepare the journal entry to record both the acquisition and the direct costs.

EXERCISE 3-10 B Deferred Tax Effects, Acquisition Entry and Eliminating Entries
Patel Company paid $570,000 for 95% of the common stock of Seely Company on January 1,
2004. Seely Company had the following assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity at that time:
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Book Value
Tax Basis Fair Value Excess

Cash $  20,000 $  20,000 $—0—
Accounts Receivable 112,000 112,000 —0—
Inventory (LIFO) 82,000 134,000 52,000
Land 30,000 55,000 25,000
Plant Assets (net) 392,000 463,000 71,000

Total Assets $636,000 $784,000

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts $  10,000 $  10,000 $—0—
Accounts Payable 54,000 54,000 —0—
Bonds Payable 200,000 180,000 20,000
Common Stock, $1 par value 80,000
Other Contributed Capital 132,000
Retained Earnings 160,000

Total Equities $636,000

Required:
A. Prepare the stock acquisition entry on the books of Patel Company, taking into account

tax effects. Assume an income tax rate of 40%.
B. Prepare eliminating entries for the preparation of a consolidated balance sheet workpa-

per on January 1, 2004.

EXERCISE 3-11B Deferred Tax Effects at Date of Acquisition
Profeet Company purchased the Starless Company in a nontaxable purchase combination
consummated as a stock acquisition. Profeet issued 10,000 shares of $5 par value common
stock, with a market value of $70, in exchange for all the stock of Starless. The following
information about Starless Company is available on the combination date.

Starless Company
Book Value of Net Assets $600,000
Deferred Tax Liability from using Modified

Accelerated Cost Recover System
(MACRS) depreciation for tax purposes 24,000

Other Items Book Value Fair Value

Fixed Assets $410,000 $490,000
Long-Term Debt 450,000 500,000

The current and future tax rate is expected to be 40%.

Required:
Prepare the journal entry to record the acquisition, taking into account tax effects.

PROBLEMS

PROBLEM 3-1 Consolidated Workpaper: Two Cases
The following two separate cases show the financial position of a parent company and its sub-
sidiary company on November 30, 2004, just after the parent had purchased 90% of the sub-
sidiary’s stock:

Case I Case II

P Company S Company P Company S Company

Current Assets $   880,000 $260,000 $   780,000 $280,000
Investment in S Company 190,000 190,000
Long-Term Assets 1,400,000 400,000 1,200,000 400,000
Other Assets 90,000 40,000 70,000 70,000

Total $2,560,000 $700,000 $2,240,000 $750,000
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Current Liabilities $   640,000 $270,000 $   700,000 $260,000
Long-Term Liabilities 850,000 290,000 920,000 270,000
Common Stock 600,000 180,000 600,000 180,000
Retained Earnings 470,000 (40,000) 20,000 40,000

Total $2,560,000 $700,000 $2,240,000 $750,000

Required:
Prepare a November 30, 2004, consolidated balance sheet workpaper for each of the fore-
going cases. Any difference between the cost of the investment and the book value of equity
acquired relates to subsidiary long-term assets.

PROBLEM 3-2 Consolidated Balance Sheet Workpaper
On January 1, 2004, Perry Company purchased 8,000 shares of Soho Company’s common
stock for $120,000. Immediately after the stock acquisition, the statements of financial posi-
tion of Perry and Soho appeared as follows:

Assets Perry Soho

Cash $ 39,000 $ 19,000
Accounts Receivable 53,000 31,000
Inventory 42,000 25,000
Investment in Soho Company 120,000
Plant Assets 160,000 110,500
Accumulated Depreciation—Plant Assets (52,000) (19,500)

Total $ 362,000 $166,000

Liabilities and Owners’ Equity Perry Soho

Current Liabilities $ 18,500 $  26,000
Mortgage Notes Payable 40,000
Common Stock, $10 par value 120,000 100,000
Premium on Common Stock 135,000 16,500
Retained Earnings 48,500 23,500

Total $ 362,000 $166,000

Required:
A. Calculate the percentage of Soho acquired by Perry Company. Prepare a schedule to

compute the difference between cost and book value of equity acquired. Any difference
between the cost of the investment and the book value of equity acquired relates to sub-
sidiary plant assets.

B. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet workpaper as of January 1, 2004.

PROBLEM 3-3 Intercompany Bond Holdings at Par, 90% Owned Subsidiary
Balance sheets for P Company and S Company on August 1, 2004, are as follows:

P Company S Company

Cash $ 165,500 $106,000
Receivables 366,000 126,000
Inventory 261,000 108,000
Investment in Bonds 306,000 —0—
Investment in S Company Stock 586,500 —0—
Plant and Equipment (net) 573,000 320,000
Land 200,000 300,000

Total $2,458,000 $960,000

Accounts Payable $   174,000 $  58,000
Accrued Expenses 32,400 26,000
Bonds Payable, 8% —0— 200,000
Common Stock 1,500,000 460,000
Other Contributed Capital 260,000 60,000
Retained Earnings 491,600 156,000

Total $2,458,000 $960,000
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Required:
Prepare a workpaper for a consolidated balance sheet for P Company and its subsidiary on
August 1, 2004, taking into consideration the following:
1. P Company acquired 90% of the outstanding common stock of S Company on August 1,

2004, for a cash payment of $586,500.
2. Included in the Investment in Bonds account are $40,000 par value of S Company bonds

payable that were purchased at par by P Company in 1995. The bonds pay interest
on April 30 and October 31. S Company has appropriately accrued interest expense on
August 1, 2004; P Company, however, inadvertently failed to accrue interest income on
the S Company bonds.

3. Included in P Company receivables is a $35,000 cash advance to S Company that was
mailed on August 1, 2004. S Company had not yet received the advance at the time of the
preparation of its August 1, 2004, balance sheet.

4. Any difference between the cost of the investment and the book value of equity acquired
relates to subsidiary land.

PROBLEM 3-4 Parent and Two Subsidiaries, Intercompany Notes
On January 2, 2004, Phillips Company purchased 80% of Sanchez Company and 90% of
Thomas Company for $225,000 and $168,000, respectively. Immediately before the acquisi-
tions, the balance sheets of the three companies were as follows:

Phillips Sanchez Thomas

Cash $400,000 $  43,700 $  20,000
Accounts Receivable 28,000 24,000 20,000
Note Receivable —0— 10,000 —0—
Interest Receivable —0— 300 —0—
Inventory 120,000 96,000 43,000
Equipment 60,000 40,000 30,000
Land 180,000 80,000 70,000

Total $788,000 $294,000 $183,000

Accounts Payable $  28,000 $  20,000 $  18,000
Note Payable —0— —0— 10,000
Common Stock 300,000 120,000 75,000
Other Contributed Capital 300,000 90,000 40,000
Retained Earnings 160,000 64,000 40,000

Total $788,000 $294,000 $183,000

The note receivable and interest receivable of Sanchez relate to a loan made to Thomas
Company on October 1, 2003. Thomas failed to record the accrued interest expense on the
note.

Required:
Prepare a consolidated balance sheet workpaper as of January 2, 2004. Any difference
between cost and book value relates to subsidiary land.

PROBLEM 3-5 Determining Balance Sheet Prior to Consolidation
On January 1, 2004, Pat Company purchased 90% of the outstanding common stock of Solo
Company for $236,000 cash. The balance sheet for Pat Company just before the acquisition
of Solo Company stock, along with the consolidated balance sheet prepared at the date of
acquisition, follows:
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Pat Company Consolidated 
December 31, 2003 January 1, 2004

Cash $   540,000 $   352,000
Accounts Receivable 272,000 346,000
Advances to Solo Company 10,000
Inventory 376,000 451,000
Plant and Equipment 622,000 820,000
Land 350,000 421,000

Total $2,170,000 $2,390,000

Accounts Payable $   280,000 $   386,000
Long-Term Liabilities 520,000 605,500
Noncontrolling Interest in Subsidiary 28,500
Common Stock 890,000 890,000
Other Contributed Capital 300,000 300,000
Retained Earnings 180,000 180,000

Total $2,170,000 $2,390,000

One week before the acquisition, Pat Company had advanced $10,000 to Solo Company. Solo
Company had not yet recorded the transaction on the date of acquisition. In addition, on the
date of acquisition, Solo Company owed Pat Company $4,000 for purchases of merchandise on
account. The merchandise had been sold to outside parties prior to the date of acquisition.

Required:
A. Determine the amount of cash that appeared on Solo Company’s balance sheet immedi-

ately prior to the acquisition of its stock by Pat Company.
B. Determine the amount of total stockholders’ equity on Solo Company’s separate balance

sheet at the date of acquisition.
C. Determine the amount of total assets appearing on Solo Company’s separate balance

sheet on the date of acquisition.

PROBLEM 3-6 In-Transit Items
On July 31, 2004, Ping Company purchased 90% of Santos Company’s common stock for
$2,010,000 cash. Immediately after the acquisition, the two companies’ balance sheets were
as follows:

Ping Santos

Cash $   320,000 $   150,000
Accounts Receivable 600,000 300,000
Note Receivable 100,000 —0—
Inventory 1,840,000 400,000
Advance to Santos Company 60,000 —0—
Investment in Santos Company 2,010,000 —0—
Plant and Equipment (net) 3,000,000 1,500,000
Land 90,000 90,000

Total $8,020,000 $2,440,000

Accounts Payable $   800,000 $   140,000
Notes Payable 900,000 100,000
Common Stock 2,400,000 900,000
Other Contributed Capital 2,200,000 680,000
Retained Earnings 1,720,000 620,000

Total $8,020,000 $2,440,000

Santos Company has not yet recorded the $60,000 cash advance from Ping Company. Ping
Company’s accounts receivable include $20,000 due from Santos Company. Santos
Company’s $100,000 note payable is payable to Ping Company. Neither company has
recorded $7,000 of interest accrued on the note from January 1 to July 31. Any difference
between cost and book value relates to land.
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Required:
Prepare a consolidated balance sheet workpaper on July 31, 2004.

PROBLEM 3-7 Purchase Using Cash and Using Stock
Balance sheets for Prego Company and Sprague Company as of December 31, 2003, follow:

Prego Company Sprague  Company

Cash $ 700,000 $111,000
Accounts Receivable (net) 892,000 230,000
Inventory 544,000 60,000
Property and Equipment (net) $1,927,000 $468,000
Land 120,000 94,000

Total Assets $4,183,000 $963,000

Accounts Payable $ 302,000 $152,000
Notes Payable 588,000 61,000
Long-Term Debt 350,000 90,000
Common Stock 1,800,000 500,000
Other Contributed Capital 543,000 80,000
Retained Earnings 600,000 80,000

Total Equities $4,183,000 $963,000

The fair values of Sprague Company’s assets and liabilities are equal to their book values.

Required:
Prepare a consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2004, under each of the following
assumptions:
A. On January 1, 2004, Prego Company purchased 90% of the outstanding common stock

of Sprague Company for $594,000.
B. On January 1, 2004, Prego Company exchanged 11,880 of its $20 par value common

shares with a fair value of $50 per share for 90% of the outstanding common shares of
Sprague Company. The transaction is a purchase.

PROBLEM 3-8 Intercompany Items, Two Subsidiaries
On February 1, 2004, Punto Company purchased 95% of the outstanding common stock of
Sara Company and 85% of the outstanding common stock of Rob Company. Immediately
before the two acquisitions, balance sheets of the three companies were as follows:

Punto Sara Rob

Cash $165,000 $  45,000 $ 17,000
Accounts Receivable 35,000 35,000 26,000
Notes Receivable 18,000 —0— —0—
Merchandise Inventory 106,000 35,500 14,000
Prepaid Insurance 13,500 2,500 500
Advances to Sara Company 10,000
Advances to Rob Company 5,000
Land 248,000 43,000 15,000
Buildings (net) 100,000 27,000 16,000
Equipment (net) 35,000 10,000 2,500

Total $735,500 $198,000 $ 91,000

Accounts Payable $ 25,500 $ 20,000 $ 10,500
Income Taxes Payable 30,000 10,000 —0—
Notes Payable —0— 6,000 10,500
Bonds Payable 100,000 —0— —0—
Common Stock, $10 par value 300,000 144,000 42,000
Other Contributed Capital 150,000 12,000 38,000
Retained Earnings (Deficit) 130,000 6,000 (10,000)

Total $735,500 $198,000 $91,000
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The following additional information is relevant.
1. One week before the acquisitions, Punto Company had advanced $10,000 to Sara

Company and $5,000 to Rob Company. Sara Company recorded an increase to Accounts
Payable for its advance, but Rob Company had not recorded the transaction.

2. On the date of acquisition, Punto Company owed Sara Company $12,000 for purchases
on account, and Rob Company owed Punto Company $3,000 and Sara Company $6,000
for such purchases. The goods purchased had all been sold to outside parties prior to
acquisition.

3. Punto Company exchanged 13,400 shares of its common stock with a fair value of $12 per
share for 95% of the outstanding common stock of Sara Company. In addition, stock issue
fees of $4,000 were paid in cash. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase.

4. Punto Company paid $50,000 cash for the 85% interest in Rob Company.
5. Three thousand dollars of Sara Company’s notes payable and $9,500 of Rob Company’s

notes payable were payable to Punto Company.
6. Any difference between cost and book value relates to subsidiary land.

Required:
A. Give the book entries to record the two acquisitions in the accounts of Punto Company.
B. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet workpaper immediately after acquisition.
C. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet at the date of acquisition for Punto Company and

its subsidiaries.

PROBLEM 3-9 Intercompany Notes, 90% Acquisition
On January 1, 2005, Pope Company purchased 90% of Sun Company’s common stock for
$5,800,000 cash. Immediately after the acquisition, the two companies’ balance sheets were
as follows:

Pope Sun

Cash $     297,000 $   165,000
Accounts Receivable 432,000 468,000
Notes Receivable 90,000
Inventory 1,980,000 1,447,000
Investment in Sun Company 5,800,000
Plant and Equipment (net) 5,730,000 3,740,000
Land 1,575,000 908,000

Total $15,904,000 $6,728,000

Accounts Payable $     698,000 $   247,000
Notes Payable 2,250,000 110,000
Common Stock ($15 par) 4,500,000 5,250,000
Other Contributed Capital 5,198,000 396,000
Treasury Stock Held (1,200,000)
Retained Earnings 3,258,000 1,925,000

Total $15,904,000 $6,728,000

Sun Company’s Notes Payable includes a $90,000 note payable to Pope Company. Any
difference between cost and book value relates to subsidiary property and equipment.

Required:
A. Prepare a Computation and Allocation Schedule for the difference between cost (pur-

chase price) and book value of equity acquired.
B. Prepare a consolidated balance sheet workpaper on January 1, 2005.

PROBLEM 3-10 B Deferred Tax Effects
On January 1, 2005, Pruitt Company issued 25,500 shares of its common stock in exchange
for 85% of the outstanding common stock of Shah Company. Pruitt’s common stock had
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a fair value of $28 per share at that time (par value of $2 per share). Pruitt Company uses the
cost method to account for its investment in Shah Company and files a consolidated income
tax return. A schedule of the Shah Company assets acquired and liabilities assumed at book
values (which are equal to their tax bases) and at fair values follows:

Book Value/
Item Tax Basis Fair Value Excess

Receivables (net) $125,000 $ 125,000 $   —0—
Inventory 167,000 195,000 28,000
Land 86,500 120,000 33,500
Plant Assets (net) 467,000 567,000 100,000
Patents 95,000 200,000 105,000

Total $940,500 $1,207,000 $266,500

Current Liabilities $ 89,500 $   89,500 $   —0—
Bonds Payable 300,000 360,000 60,000
Common Stock 120,000
Other Contributed Capital 164,000
Retained Earnings 267,000
Total $940,500

Additional Information:
1. Pruitt’s income tax rate is 35%.
2. Shah’s beginning inventory was all sold during 2005.
3. Useful lives for depreciation and amortization purposes are:

Plant Assets 10 years
Patents 8 years
Bond Premium 10 years

4. Pruitt uses the straight-line method for all depreciation and amortization purposes.

Required:
A. Prepare the stock acquisition entry on Pruitt Company’s books.
B. Prepare the eliminating entries for a consolidated statements workpaper on January 1,

2005, immediately after acquisition.

Note : See Chapter 5, Problem 5-19 for expanded problem in subsequent periods.
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